
 

 

                                    URBANA CITY COUNCIL 

                REGULAR SESSION MINUTES – JANUARY 22, 2013 
The Urbana City Council Regular Session Meeting of Tuesday, January 22, 2013, was 
called to order at 7:00PM, by Council President Marty Hess in Court Chambers / The 
Municipal Building. 
Attendance – All Council Members were present / The Council Clerk was absent due to 
illness 
City Staff – Mayor Bill Bean; Mr. Kerry Brugger, Director of Administration; Mr. Lee 
Williams, Finance Director; Mr. Doug Crabill, Assistant to the Director of 
Administration; Mr. Brad Bodenmiller; Mr. Tyler Bumbalough; Mr. Chad Hall 
Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance 

Mr. Doug Hoffman noted he was present (name mistakenly omitted during Roll Call). 
Mr. Al Evans said, “Let the record show that Mr. Hoffman IS present.” 
Approval of Minutes 

Mr. Robert Thorpe moved to approve the UCC Regular Session Minutes of January 8, 
2013 and UCC Public Hearing Minutes of January 15, 2013; Mr. Eugene Fields 
seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
Communications 

Mr. Thorpe moved to place Communication #1 (Correspondence to City Council of 
January 9, 2013, from Attorney Ronald C. Tompkins – Urbana, OH – regarding 
notification of January 2, 2013 petition for annexation filed with the Champaign County 
Commissioners on behalf of landowners from Pearce Pl to Ward’s Ln with list of those 
appended to the petition; Hearing date read, and noted as March 7, 2013 in the offices of 
the Champaign County Commissioners); Communication #2 (City of Urbana Bd. of 
Zoning Appeals Minutes – Nov. 26 & Dec. 27, 2012); and Communication #3 (City of 
Urbana Planning Commission Minutes – Sept. 24, Oct. 8, & Oct. 22, 2012) on file; Mr. 
Lokai seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
Discussion - 
Notation : Council President Hess corrected the word ‘by’ using the word ‘with’ in the 
sentence to read ‘ petition for annexation filed with the Champaign County 
Commissioners…’ Mr. Al Evans sought correction of the date (as it appeared in the letter 
from Attorney Tompkins office) reading, ‘…the Champaign County Commissioners met 
on January 3, 2012…’ Mr. Evans questioned whether the date should be 2013 (instead of 
2012), and suggested the acceptance of Communication #1 be made on the basis of that 
correction. Council President Hess said he was unsure of the actual meeting date; the 
Council Clerk typed the date verbatim based upon what was received from the Attorney’s 
letter. 
Mr. Thorpe questioned whether all Communications require reading. Council President 
Hess said that although Council receives a packet, and emailed Agenda, it is important 
that Communications be read for the public. 
Administrative Reports – Board of Control 

1. Mr. Lokai moved to authorize the Director of Administration to enter into a renewal 
    contract with Carol Hall as Airport Manager for the amount of $14,650 for a 12 month 
    period starting January 1, 2013 (This is in the 2013 Budget, and was reviewed by the  
    Law Director); Mr. Dwight Paul seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
    Discussion – 



 

 

    Mr. Fields asked, “Same as last year?” 
    “Yes—no increase,” replied Mr. Lee Williams. “Same as last year.” 
    Mr. Lokai recommended passage of this item. 
    Mr. Al Evans questioned when the last increase was in this salary. 
    “I believe there was an increase—I don’t have it in front of me—I believe it was last  
    year…” Mr. Kerry Brugger stated. 
 
2. Mr. Fields moved to authorize the Director of Administration to enter into a renewal 
    base contract with Susan Tehan as the Oakdale Cemetery Coordinator for the amount  
    of $10,968 for a 12 month period starting January 1, 2013 (This is in the 2013 Budget,  
    and was reviewed by the Law Director); Mr. Lokai seconded. Motion carried without 
    objection. 
    Discussion – 
    “Does she also get a commission?” asked Mr. Fields. 
    Mr. Brugger answered, “Yes—a commission on sales.” 
    “Same—as last year?’ asked Mr. Paul. 
    “This has got a…$600. increase…it’s been on the same rate for ‘010, ‘011, ‘012…we 
    bumped it a little bit,” said Mr. Brugger. 
 
3. Mr. Paul moved to authorize the purchase of Anthem Group Health Insurance and re- 
    lated life, vision, and dental (SDC) insurances for $870,000 (City’s portion of the an- 
    nual premium). The 2013 premium represents a 12.05% increase from 2012, and is in  
    the 2013 Budget for $839,000 – comparison sheet/health insurance questions attached.  
    Mr. Fields seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
    Discussion – 
    Mr. Williams stated, “This request is for $870,000…that $870,000 represents 90% of  
    the cost to the City…that is $31,000 higher than we had in the Budget…we had a Bud- 
    get increase of 8%...came in at twelve, primarily due to experience of several dozen 
    claims in excess of $10,000 (that drove our premium up this year—unanticipated).” 
    “These claims—are they loss (of) work claims?” asked Mr. Evans. 
    “No—they’re strictly medical,” replied Mr. Williams. 
    Mr. Paul said, “It seems to me that if you want to attract and keep good people you  
    want to make sure that there’s good benefits to cover them when they need it.” 
    He recommended passage of this item. 
    Mr. Lokai also recommended passage, and discussed comparisons with some other  
    cities noting the average is ‘about $11,000 per employee. He encouraged further ex- 
    ploration of other options for this item at a later date. 
    Mr. Doug Hoffman stated the increase is unfortunate, but also recommended passage. 
    “Is there a buy-out provision in this health insurance?’ asked Council President Hess. 
    “There is a buy-out,” replied Mr. Williams. 
    “…and has anybody taken advantage of it in the City?” asked Council President Hess. 
    “There are about 6 or 8…to take advantage of the buy-out,” Mr. Williams said. 
 
4. Mr. Paul moved to authorize a purchase order to All-Phase Electric Supply in the  
    amount of $18,550 for 53 Cree LED retrofit downtown decorative lights (Installation 
    labor will be provided by the Street Dept. This will be charged to Capital Improve- 



 

 

    ment, has a 4-5 yr. payback, and is not in the 2013 Budget); Mr. Lokai seconded. 
    Motion carried without objection. 
    Discussion – 
    Mr. Tyler Bumbalough explained: 
    “As you know—late last year we had a test subject put in downtown (on the northwest 
    corner of The Square)—that was done with the help of a outside company, but it was  
    free to us…and our Street Dept. was able to install that…it took them 15 minutes to in- 
    stall (it wasn’t bad at all). Once we get the process down it will probably take 10 min- 
    utes a bulb…” 
    Mr. Bumbalough reviewed the particulars of the LED retrofit, and noted the 110 watt  
    savings per year. He said the cost savings in electricity costs (per yr) will be roughly 
    $2,800. 
    “That’s why it says, ‘The payback period is 4-5 years’…these each have a warranty of  
    10 years, so it’s nice that the warranty exceeds the payback period. They’re expected to 
    last about 17 years,” stated Mr. Bumbalough. 
    Mrs. Virginia Smith asked, “What will happen with the old lights then?” 
    Mr. Bumbalough provided reasons for replacement of the downtown lights first. 
    Mr. Lokai discussed the ‘math’ involved in the first 5 years as pay off, and ‘the next 5  
    years made back what we paid.’  
    “Basically--we’re going to save about $18,000 over a 10 year period—spend eighteen,  
    save eighteen,” said Mr. Lokai.  
    “Sounds good for The Square—how about is there anything in the works for the 2  
    pedestrian crosswalks?” asked Mr. Thorpe. “The one out here, and the one out on 
    Walnut St.? People are complaining that there’s no light at night for those 2 cross- 
    ings…” 
    Mr. Bumbalough noted there are currently lights next to those crosswalks. 
    Mr. Thorpe said, “Those lights are right next to it, but when it’s raining…” 
    “Were we solicited by a sales company, or did someone in your department come up  
    with this…or where did the idea originally come from?” asked Mr. Hoffman. 
    Mr. Bumbalough responded: 
    “Um—I wanted to look into this more myself—I had had the idea that induction bulbs 
    would be a savings to the City…when I got in the research, induction bulbs were like  
    six, six hundred fifty dollars each…and in doing more research (and finding more  
    companies that supply these), Cree was the best manufacturer and they had a $350.  
    bulb. The payback includes $350. rebates per bulb from DP&L, so we will apply for 
    that…” 
    “…one other comment…Larry said we get 10 years (which is the warranty), you know 
    that’s $20,000 to the plus…but you know if get closer to seventeen, it’s a really good 
    payback to the fact that this was not in the Budget…does not concern me at all…we’re 
    going to make money off of this…any more ideas you have, Tyler…bring them for- 
    ward,” stated Mr. Hoffman. 
    “The next idea would be…like Dwight’s brought up before too…they extend this type 
   of savings to Scioto St., Lippencott Ln…” said Mr. Bumbalough, also referring to a 6-7  
   year payback period with those. “This was an idea brought up probably in December of 
   2012, so that’s why it didn’t make it….” 
   “So we’re getting 53 of the bulbs…so you’re going to start downtown (basically in The 



 

 

   Square, and work your way out)…so what area are you going to cover with the 53  
   bulbs?” asked Mr. Paul. 
   “The 53 bulbs…52 are needed (we were told to get 1 more, in case something happens  
   under warranty we can switch one out real quick…and send the old one back, and get  
   its replacement…52 bulbs cover The Square, and 1 block each way…they’re the white 
   lights (the decorative lights) that are there now,” answered Mr. Bumbalough. 
   Council President Hess said, “You brought up something that nobody asked—is the 
   money available?” 
   Mr. Williams said, “Whenever there’s a payback involved…and this early in the year, 
   we will find those finds.” 
 
5. Mr. Paul moved to authorize the blanket purchase order list (attached) for 2013. All  
    blanket amounts are in the 2013 Budget. Mr. Lokai seconded. Motion carried without 
    objection. 
    Discussion – 
    “Anything out of the ordinary—Lee?” asked Council President Hess. 
    Mr. Williams replied: 
    “There’s 3 on here…I don’t know how your copies turned out… 
    but there’s 3 on here that are what I call anomalies compared to the prior period. Bryce 
    Hill, East Jordan Iron Works, 11&12—those are in-sourcing by the Street Dept. of  
    work that we (in the past) have outsourced to a third party for catch basins. The only 
    other one is Item #19, the Alloway testing…there’s been an increase in that fee. It went 
    from $6,000 to $12,000—that’s a new p.o. this year. One for a change in supplier, and  
    two—for EPA required testing that Bob Munch has experienced in the Water Division. 
    Those are the only ones that are different…other than that it’s a rollover from the pre- 
    vious year.” 
    Mr. Lokai commented: 
    “It looks like it’s a lot of money, but…anybody that’s worked with public money  
    knows that if you’re going to take money out of the budget…you have it appropriated, 
    then you have to write a purchase order…so (in other words) for all these departments  
    to operate, they’re going to have to have that purchase order approved ahead of time so 
    they can go ahead and get the supplies…so while it looks like it’s a lot of money, it’s 
    appropriated…it’s in the Budget, but this triggers the money to be released.” 
    “Alloway…and landfill testing…is that ever going to go away?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
    “The Alloway…it never goes away…it’s constant testing that has to be done, and it’s  
    special testing that we can’t do in-house…and it needs to be a certified lab to meet the 
    EPA requirements,” replied Mr. Brugger. 
    “…and the lab testing is strictly…down at the Waste Water Plant?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
    Mr. Brugger said, “No—the Alloway is…the water testing we’re talking about is for  
    for the drinking water coming out of the wells…you’ve got to test for all the different  
    bacteria, chemicals, whatever you need for the requirements.” 
    “The second lab testing for Alloway is…” Mr. Thorpe said. 
    Mr. Chad Hall clarified, “Mr. Thorpe—there’s about 3 Alloways on here—Number 1, 
    The Landfill (that’s a line item by itself…that’s our…it’s not going to go away), then 
    Number 19 will be for the Water Dept. (his increased requirements by the State), and  
    then the 3rd one is for Waste Water and Industrial Pretreatment…” 



 

 

    “I don’t know how far back or what it’s been, but I understood that we were setting up  
    our own lab testing here,” said Mr. Thorpe. 
    “We do a lot of our own testing in-house…but a lot of …for instance, landfill…a lot 
   of that testing is vocs…all those fine parameters that the State requires, so we cannot  
   do in-house,” stated Mr. Hall. 
   “That’s for the landfill,” said Mr. Thorpe. 
   Mr. Hall verified, “That’s from the landfill.” 
   “But you can’t do it with the water, and the waste water?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
   Mr. Hall said, “No—I do not test for vocs in waste water.” 
   “Will we ever have capabilities to do that then?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
   “No,” said Mr. Hall. 
   “We will not—thank you Mr. Brugger. Thank you, Chad,” Mr. Thorpe said. 
   “It all makes pretty good sense—it’s all in the Budget—I appreciate the information,”  
   stated Mr. Hoffman. “Thank you.” 
   “What kind of testing were we doing out at the landfill?” asked Mr. Fields. 
   “All the testing’s the same—about 2 or 3 years ago we just changed vendors,” replied 
   Mr. Hall. 
   “Because I thought our guys were going out and doing some testing out there,” Mr.  
   Fields said. 
   “They do some of it—yes,” Mr. Hall said. “This is the actual sample that’s sent off.” 
   “…and we went with Alloway, because they gave us a better price,” said Mr. Evans. 
   “That’s correct,” replied Mr. Hall. 
   “…and that was a year or so ago,” said Mr. Evans. 
   “Yeah Bob and I usually bid out every other…I think he does maybe every year…a 
   source of, some sources of…”said Mr. Hall.  
   “So this is less than we used to pay,” Mr. Evans surmised. 
   “Bob’s is the only ones that increased…mine’s the same…the waste water, and…”said 
   Mr. Hall. 
   Mr. Paul sought clarification from Mr. Williams, “You said Number 11—Bryce Hill— 
   the catch basins for twelve grand…that’s double what it was last year, because you’re 
   bringing that in house…is that what you said?” 
   Mr. Williams responded, “Not doubled—that’s just a new open p.o. where we had out- 
   sourced in the past—we brought it in house. It’s just a new order—new open order. Re- 
   member it’s a blanket—we may (or may not) spend it.” 
   Council President Hess said, “We spend a lot of money on fuel, and savings of…I  
   know there’s always a cost…everybody also makes their profit…is there any chance  
   of…would it be possible for us to look into having our own tanks? We spend a lot of 
   money on fuel…Is this something we (probably) should look at, or not?” 
   “We have a blanket with the local supplier, and we buy all of it from one…and we get 
   a discount…we’re paying retail less a percentage so…I mean, it’s something we could 
   look at in the future…we could investigate,” said Mr. Williams. 
   Council President Hess said, “If somebody has some spare time—Lee.” 
   “We do keep some diesel here at the Firehouse (for the ambulance—things like that),  
   but…nothing larger,” stated Mr. Brugger. 
   “The Police—when they’re out and they’re sitting…they set there with the cruiser  
   idling…are they shut off for 10 or 15 minutes?...and the same thing with the Water and 



 

 

    
 
   Street Dept. if you’re digging holes…”said Mr. Thorpe, citing instances where he has  
   witnessed vehicles (pickup trucks, etc.) running 45 minutes. “Looks to me like there  
   ought to be some way…to shut those down.” 
   “Notable,” replied Mr. Brugger. 
Citizen Comments 

Mr. John Shutway, 573 E. Church St., addressed Council. He said he had a request in to 
the Police Dept. to see the ‘Policies & Procedures Manual.’ He noted a Lieutenant said 
the Manual is available to view at the Library. 
He said the Manual was ‘well organized and in place,’ but expressed concern that the 
Manual was dated 1997. Mr. Shutway requested of the Council/Mayor ‘or whoever is in 
charge to see that the manuals are updated’ or ‘brought up to this Century.’ 
Ordinances and Resolutions 

Third Reading – 

RESOLUTION NO. 2380 -  

Mr. Lokai moved to place RESOLUTION NO. 2380 on the business floor for discussion 
and passage; Mr. Thorpe seconded.  
Roll call vote to approve passage: Mr. Evans, yes; Mr. Paul, yes; Mrs. Smith, yes; Mr. 
Lokai, yes; Mr. Thorpe, yes; Mr. Hoffman, yes; Mr. Fields, yes  (7-0) 
Discussion – 
Mr. Doug Crabill recapped the purpose of the Resolution (Enhancement Project on 36,  
between Berwick & Lippencott – Letter of Interest to ODOT by Feb. 1). He described  
briefly the multiple phases.  
RESOLUTION NO. 2381 – 

Mr. Lokai moved to place RESOLUTION NO. 2381 on the business floor for discussion 
and passage; Mr. Paul seconded.  
Roll call vote to approve: Mr. Paul, yes; Mrs. Smith, yes; Mr. Lokai, yes; Mr. Thorpe, 
yes; Mr. Hoffman, yes; Mr. Fields, yes; Mr. Evans, yes  (7-0) 
Discussion – 
Mr. Crabill described this Resolution as the second phase of Safe Routes to Schools 
improvements around the neighborhood schools. He described some previous improve- 
ments, and noted this as ‘a new round of funding, and a new project.’ 
He clarified the original Resolution was about $420,000. This program (in the past) has 
been 100% Federal. Mr. Crabill said that he and Mr. Bumbalough reviewed, and 
determined it is actually an 80/20 Program (the State picks up 20%; Federal picks up 
80%). More guidance will come in early February as to how that will actually happen. 
“At this point—this is just an application,” stated Mr. Crabill. “If we did have to come up 
with the 20%...it would be something we would have to budget, in a future budget year… 
but our understanding (if we understand it correctly) is that ODOT would pick up the 
20%...” 
Mr. Hoffman said, “So this is just for the application—if for some reason we find out we 
have to pick up the 20%, we don’t have to enter it in any kind of agreement, or…?” 
Mr. Crabill answered, “It does authorize us (basically) to move forward with ODOT’s 
process…so basically, the next time Council would see something would be during the 
budget process.”  



 

 

Mr. Crabill said that if the 20% is not covered, it would have to be determined how to fit 
it into a future City budget. 
Second Reading – 

There were no Second Readings at this Meeting. 
First Reading – 

ORDINANCE NO. 4389 – 

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND REPLACE SECTION D. SIGNS OF THE 
URBANA CORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS ESTABLISHED BY 
CHAPTER 1127 
(* Read and declared a First Reading) 
Mr. Brad Bodenmiller explained this as a Planning Commission recommendation,  
provided a brief history, and reasons for the rewrite/replacement of. He described (2) 
major changes (*See Council Ordinance Copy for standards). 
Mr. Thorpe questioned double tenant signage. 
Mr. Bodenmiller described the 1 freestanding sign ‘that can’t be too large’ (100 sq. ft.) 
Mr. Thorpe pointed to a sign (example) on No. Main St. 
Mr. Bodenmiller suggested going through the Sign Code, with review (examples) of 
buildings. 
Mr. Lokai said the ‘assumption is that this would require a two-thirds vote by Council.’ 
“Correct,” said Mr. Bodenmiller. 
“So that we don’t run into the problem we did 2 years ago, where we had 3 readings in 3 
days and passed…I would encourage us to make sure we have the full 3 readings, and I 
would highly encourage any business people that are contemplating…or thinking about 
changing to look at this now, instead of after the fact (passage)…I think this is a move in 
the right direction…I think you have to look at uniformity…” stated Mr. Lokai, also 
commending the efforts that Mr. Bodenmiller has put into this Ordinance. 
Mr. Bodenmiller said this has been ‘looked at for a year and a half.’ 
Mr. Paul reflected upon his service on the BZA, and numbers of sign issues that came in. 
He said: 
“It was a nightmare—it was kind of hard to figure out what the heck was going on…and I 
think this is a great idea…a great step in the right direction…I  read through this today, 
and I basically came out with basically one question…and (it may sound a little silly) but 
what’s to stop someone from putting up a pole sign that’s 15 feet high, and then a 
monument sign that’s (what) 8 feet high…there’s no…there doesn’t seem to be a 
situation where a business owner has to make a choice.” 
Mr. Bodenmiller began, “I have it in there underneath um…” 
“I may have just missed it (if it’s in there),” said Mr. Paul. 
“Well—it’s not obvious unless you go back to a couple different spots—it’s says 
um…under (for example) underneath the pole sign, it will say that um…underneath the 
number…that number 3, it will say…” Mr. Bodenmiller pointed to the area where Mr. 
Paul’s question was covered. 
Mr. Bodenmiller requested a telephone call if Council thinks that anything has been 
missed (before the Ordinance is enacted). 
Mr. Evans expressed appreciation to Mr. Bodenmiller for his work on this Ordinance. 
“I noticed—when I opened up the email this morning—that you sent that email at 3:23 in 
the morning?” asked Mr. Evans. “So I appreciate you—burning the time—I think that the 



 

 

changes will accommodate some current people that are trying to do something with 
signs…and I think it will also make it easier for businesses to display their business in a 
way that promotes business. I do have some questions, but I’ll reserve those for a meeting 
with you…that I’ll call you, and make arrangements for. You did do good work, and we 
appreciate it.” 
Mr. Fields said he would visit with Mr. Bodenmiller to resolve his questions. 
Council President Hess said, “I hate to say ‘the dirty word,’ but the Planning Commission 
has worked on this a long time…and it might…you all sounded like you had questions, 
and to facilitate this it might not be a bad idea if we could all meet at a Work Session (I 
hate to say that word, but)…and you could all ask the same questions…I really…this is 
very important…everybody should have a chance to hear what he has to say about this, to 
answer all the questions….rather than…three or seven different stories coming back with, 
‘He said, she said’….so it’s up to you…you might want to be thinking about that 
sometime in the near future.” 
Miscellaneous Business 

Mr. Lokai          - Moved to have a Work Session at the end of the next Regular Session 
                            (Feb. 12); Mr. Hoffman seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
                            (*Council President Hess noted February 12 as his birthday; Someone/ 
                            unidentified offered to ‘bring a cake,’ and Mr. Lokai volunteered to 
                            bring ice cream) 
                            Moved to increase the Council Clerk’s salary by $1,000., and rehire her 
                            for 2013; Mr. Evans seconded. Motion carried unanimously. 
                            Mr. Lokai outlined several reasons why the Clerk merited this raise. 
                            Mr. Thorpe asked Council President a question (Both the question and 
                            response were inaudible on the Council tape). 
                            The Clerk’s salary was raised to $16,000 from $15,000 
                            Mr. Hoffman complimented Mrs. Eldridge’s work, and Mrs. Smith, Mr.  
                            Paul, Mr. Evans, and Mr. Fields concurred with his remarks. 
Mrs. Smith        - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Paul            - Thanked Mr. Shutway for coming in, and assured Mr. Shutway that  
                            Police Chief Lingrell will receive the information (and will address 
                            the issue presented) 
Mr. Evans         - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Fields         - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Hoffman     - Expressed appreciation to the Administration for keeping Board of  
                            Control items in the Budget 
                            “Those that were not in the Budget obviously got a return on the invest- 
                            ment—it was money well spent,” he said.  
                            Requested an update from the Mayor on the progress of Hot Head Bur- 
                            ritos 
                            Mr. Bodenmiller noted the company has the building permits, and ‘they 
                            are working on them’ 
Mr. Thorpe       - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Bumbalough – 
                            Nothing at this time 
Mr. Chad Hall -   Nothing at this time 



 

 

Mr. Doug Crabill- 
                            Nothing at this time 
Mr. Lee Williams – 
                            Nothing at this time 
Mr. Kerry Brugger – 
                            Noted, “Last week ended the Christmas tree pick up—Colin said  
                            they’re going to make another trip around to see if there are any  
                            stragglers that came out over the weekend.” 
                            Mentioned the rash of water main breaks taking place during the cold 
                            weather; Said the breaks have been taxing for the crews, and requested 
                            everyone’s patience; Urged citizens to call if they see something that  
                            doesn’t appear right (to catch it, before it becomes a big issue) 
Mayor Bill Bean – 
                            Said Marcia Bailey met today with Jean Hightower (with the 401st 
                            Bomber Group/the B-17 Group)…announced, “They’re going to com- 
                            ing to Urbana sometime in mid-August. They’re going to be having a  
                            reunion down at Wright Patt, so they’re going be coming up here…and 
                            they’ve kind of  taken the ‘Champaign Lady’ as their plane…and they 
                            are going to come in and view the Museum…2,000 of them are going to  
                            be here. Marcia’s been working with this lady, and expecting good  
                            things from this group sometime in August…so I’ll keep you up-to-date 
                            on what’s going on!” 
Council President Hess – 
                            Asked, “The timing on the traffic lights—have they been changed?” 
                            Mr. Brugger replied, “There hasn’t been any timing changes that I’m  
                            aware of—I know we’ve had some calls about the intersection of So. 
                            Main & Water, and my understanding…it’s been validated, and every- 
                            thing’s working…so if there’s something that seems odd, let us know 
                            the intersection…and we’ll check it out!” 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

An Executive Session was requested by the Administration to discuss “Personnel.” 
Mr. Lokai moved to adjourn to EXECUTIVE SESSION (approximately 8:08PM); Mr. 
Thorpe seconded. Roll call vote to approve: Mrs. Smith, yes; Mr. Lokai, yes; Mr. Thorpe, 
yes; Mr. Hoffman, yes; Mr. Fields, yes; Mr. Evans, yes; Mr. Paul, yes  (7-0) 
ADJOURNMENT 

Following the brief Executive Session, Mr. Lokai moved to reconvene to Regular Session 
and adjourn; Mr. Thorpe seconded. All were in favor of adjournment. 
 
 
________________________________            __________________________________ 
Council Clerk                                                                             Council President 

 

January 22, 2013 Minutes.doc                             Urbana City Council                                                         Page 9 of 9  
                             
 
  
 



 

 

 
  
    
    
     
  
     
     
 


